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the command of Union Colonel George W. Kirk. The Reconstruction-era did not .. 
seem to have a negative impact on the county; in fact there apparently was an 

increase in agriculture and building after the By 1870, 515 freed blacks 

were settled in the county, (in total population of 7,921) about half of whom 

d . 11 h 1 k i h. d 41 
congregate 1n an area near Waynesvi e whic is a b ac commun ty tot 1s .ate. 

The years between the war and the saw gradual advances in 

architectural development. The 1864 Joseph Turner Cathey house in Woodrow, 

basically an 1-house, has some of the most refined Greek-Revival moldings and 

mantels in the county. In addition, molded, wide batten-boards laid over the 

seams of otherwise ordinary sheathed walls and ceilings, give the impression of 

recessed-panelled surfaces. This same treatment is seen in the circa 1878 

Shelton House which also displays, in its lathe-turned newel posts and ballusters, 

and mantels ornamented with.curvilinear moldings, the beginning influences of 

Victorian-era architecture in the county. 

When Francis McGe·e Davis built his 1865 Iron Duff home he used the basic 

I-house form with a typical Greek-Revival entry as his model. But the 2-tiered, 

gable-front porch and balcony which fronted the central bay of the house, while 

Greek-Revival in form, had curved skirts between the pillars, a peaked gable 

window and cut-out sawnwork ballustrades. The house exemplifies the transition 

from classical to Victorian-era styles which featured curved, scrolled or turned 

details made possible by jigsaws and lathes and which· symbolize a new romantic 

picturesqueness and freedom in design in domestic architecture which was sweeping 

the nation in the mid 1800s. (The single-bay, gabled balcony over a full-width 

or single-bay porch, as originally attached to the Davis house, became an 

increasingly popular type on I houses through the remaining years of the 1800's). 

·,.·· 
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The Railroad Era 
,• 

Wherever it went, the railroad changed the face of America and no other 

single factor had such a direct or indirect effect on Haywood County in the 

nineteenth century. It resulted in changes in agriculture and architecture and 

brought to the county industry, tourism and a new array of manufactured goods 

and building materials. 

The Western North Carolina Railroad (now Southern Railroad) extended its 

line westward from Asheville, and in 1882 entered Waynesville, crossed Balsam Gap 

in 1883, and by 1891 eventually went to Murphy.
42 

The relatively late arrival 

of the railroad, compared to the rest of the nation, was caused by the rugged 

terrain. For all the effect it had on other parts of the built environment, 

little remains of the actual early railroad environment itself. A large and 

impressive 1910, double-span, Warren-type iron-trestle bridge still spans 

Hominy Creek near Buncombe County parallel to the original Western Turnpike. 

Of the first rail stations (and Waynesville's was quite elaborate) only the station 

at the Junaluska stop remains. This station, now adapted as a summer home on the 

lake's south shore, acted as a terminus for a rail-shuttle between Waynesville 

and Junaluska serving summer visitors; the line featured front and rear engines.
43 

Farmers, once dependent on wagons and tenuous dirt roads for getting what 

cash crops they grew to market, now found a reliable system at their disposal. 

The fledgling settlement of Clyde, geographically at the county's center and 

site of the old Jacob Shook House, became a main shipping point for agricultural 

44 
products. A small rail-yard developed near the Waynesville station which over 

the years became an ancillary commercial center to Waynesville's Main Street 

central business district. Many of the 1900-1930 brick commercial buildings 

catering to the farmer's needs, such as the Farmer's Federation building, still 

stand along Depot and Commerce streets. 

,. 
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Out in the rural areas, the switch to larger-scale cash-crop agriculture .. 
began. Apple orchards were planted, and specialized one-or two-story apple 

houses were erected w~th thick fieldstone walls. The applehouses at the remote 

Cruso-area O'Neil farm are perhaps the best early examples (circa 1890). The 

Francis and Barber families developed large orchards, terraced far into the 

mountain slopes surrounding Waynesville. ~eginning in 1903, a massive orchard 

operation, begun by R. N. Barber, developed near Balsam Gap, and today many 

original structures remain including early twentieth-century stone applehouses, 

packhouses, an impressive stone mule-barn, and several of the original seventeen 

simple tenant-workers' houses. The 1890-1930 period saw a five-fold increase in 

the county's apple production and apple-processing remains today as one of 

H d ' 1 d. . d . 45 aywoo s ea 1ng 1n ustr1es. 

The same period saw a doubling of beef production (beef, lumber, and apples 

46 
surpassed in production the old traditional staples of wheat, corn and potatoes). 

Beginnin~ circa 1878, there was a short-lived boom of flue-cured tobacco-growing 

in western Carolina anq several of the distinctive tall and squarish frame 

tobacco barns of this era remain on the Redmond and Jesse Bradshaw farms. The 

most intact example is located on the Crabtree farm of Lee McElroy; this circa 1890 

barn features two cast-rion "Modern Barn" wood furnaces protruding through the 

fieldstone cellar walls (the stoves were manufactured by the High Point Iron 

Works). A rapid declin'e in the value of mountain-grown tobacco put a virtual 

halt to production in 1892 and tobacco wasn't grown again until the introduction 

of burley circa 1925. 47 Air-cured burley can be seen drying in virtuaily any 

imaginable structure including abandoned houses and churches but was mainly dried 

in barns with wide, open spaces between the log-pole wails, as seen at the 

Mark Hogland farm near White Oak. 

Dairying was never very extensive in the county, but Riley Ferguson began 

•• 
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an operation 'in Crabtree where his 1887 farmhouse still stands along with a 

collection dr early twentieth-century gambrel-roofed barns and concrete silos. 

The framed, two-story gambrel-roof barn became the most popular type at the 

turn of the century replacing gabled log and frame barns. Concrete and field-

tile silos also made their appearance at this time,. 

Victorian-era Architecture 

The tentative stops toward Victorian-era architecture, begun in the years 

before the railroad's arrival, proceeded in earnest when improved transportation 

brought an increased awareness of nationally-popular tastes and architectural 

fashions. Traditional I-houses sprouted bay windows and projecting bays, were 

decorated with scroll-brackets along the gable, eave and porch cornices, had 

decoratively-edged wood shingles applied to the gablesjand doors and windows 

were enframed with wide, complex moldings. Most of these new elements were mass-

produced and machine-made; scroll-saws, lathes, jigsaws and machine-presses made 

the new aesthetic possible and no doubt many of these architectural components 

fntered the county via the railroad. Both the Pingree Priestly Plott House in 

Bethel and Wilbur Noland House in Crabtree are otherwise traditional houses with 

up-to-date Victorian-era ornament: bays, balconies and windows '~reak out of the 

box" form of the I-house. 

The 1888 Gwyn hous~ in Cruso completely broke tradition and is a large,hip-

roofed Italianate-style house, four-square and boxy in shape with an ornate 

porch wrapping around the sides. The interior featured marble mantels and 

decorative plasterwork. 

As up-date as this rural example is however, it does not match the 

sophistication seen in two Waynesville homes: the circa 1884 Boone-Withers 

House and the circa 1895 Way House. Both were owned by prominent Waynesville 

professionals and reflect a new urbaneness and awareness of nationally-popular tastes. 
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Each is highly irregular in massing, displays lively and complex Victorian ,':,_ 

.. 
decoration and features the latest available innovations, such as coal-grate 

fireplaces and plumbing systems. These houses also go beyond the purely functional 

spaces of the log and early !-houses, by introducting large ceremonial halls, 

dining rooms, servant's quarters, balconies, sleeping porches, porte-cocheres 

and so on. Both houses also include elements of the Colonial-Revival styles 

that would become very popular nationally in the early twentieth-century. 

The Gautier House in Waynesville is the epitome of the Victorian Queen-

Anne style with its tall rounded turret, decorative woodwork and irregular 

shape. The Queen-Anne style in rural Haywood becomes quite vernacular however. 

The house at the Francis Farm east of Waynesville and the Bethel-area Penland-

Burnette and Blalock houses are all L-shaped structures with simple Queen-Anne 

details and small squarish turrets, although the latter house shows better 

proportion. The 1907 Mount Olive Church in Waynesville, with its decorative 

twin spires is perhaps the best of the county's Victorian churches. 

Whereas wood-construction dominated in the early years, the railroad era 

brought a new variety of building materials to the last decades of the 

nineteenth-century. Brick houses became more popular, such as the Miller-

Francis House in Waynesville and the Abel House in Bethel. Decorative pressed-

tin roof shingles, as on the Smathers-Dotson House in Clyde, were extremely 

popular and tin was even used as siding, pressed to simulate brick or stone 

as on "Laurel Bank", a house in Cruso. Cast-iron was utilized for fences 

(Hannah-Graham House), coal grates and columns (Liner House). Decorative 

concrete blocks were used for foundations or for entire structures such as 

the Ferguson Store in Fines Creek or the Rock Spring School in Crabtree. Colored-

glass was occasionally used in windows and doors as seen in the diminutive but 

highly-ornate in-town house at #3 Mulberry Street in Clyde. 
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Boom Era: The Summer People 

.• 

Long an impediment to settlement, the mountains of Haywood County became, 

in the late 1800s, a catalyst for development. Lured by cool summers, splendid 

mountain scenery and a healthy climate, lowlanders from the coastal South and 

urbanites from the North took advantage of the new passenger services available 

on the railroads and flocked to western No~th Carolina. Never as frenzied as 

the rush to neighboring Buncombe County, nevertheless a tourist boom began in 

Haywood County. 

1~e only pre-railroad mountain inn had been the 1878 White Sulphur Springs 

Hotel south of Waynesville, which centered around the sulphur springs waters 

thought to be a healthful tonic. Although the 40-room hotel continued as one of 

the region's premiere inns for many years (Woodrow Wilson used it for his honeymoon) 

it was destroyed in 1941 and all that remains in the small but ornate spring-

house in an urban park on Timothy Lane. 48 

The"inns clustered around the Waynesville area because of easy. access to 

the train station. In 1902 there were nine; by 1936, twenty. 49 Among the 

better-known were the Gordon, Suyeta Park, the Waynesville, Eagle's Nest, Bon Air, 

Kenmore, and the Piedmont. 50 All have disappeared except the latter, a large, 

rambling Victorian-era structure, enlarged many times, which still operates on 

Eagle's Nest Road. In Clyde, a New Yorker, L. P. Hipps built the "Yankee Hipps" 

Hotel on a knoll overlooking the town and located just a short carriage-ride from 

the Clyde train stop. In later years, the large 1898 3-story structure with a 

2-tiered porch on all four sides, became home to the Skyland Girls Camp and is 

the county's only extant example of a building with a mansard-style roof. 

The demand for tourist housing caused many people to convert the1r pr1vate 

homes to boarding houses. In the rural areas, both the Campbell family in 

Dellwood and the Palmer family in Cataloochee partially converted their dwellings 

,. 
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to accomodate boarders (Cataloochee was a popular overnight destination for 
.. 

Waynesville-based tourists). In the towns, particularly Waynesville, homes of 

prominent citizens were at least partially utilized as summer boardinghouses, such 

as the Adger house (Adgerwood) and the Col. Howell house (Windover). 

Soon, out-of-staters built permanent summer homes of their own; these 

structures often reflected a sophisticated taste for nationally-popular architectural 

styles with which their owners were accustomed. The refined neo-classic.al Lykes 

House in the Hyatt Creek area was built for a Tampa (Fla.) shipper, while 

the 1898 Ray House in Waynesville was initially built for a South Carolina 

cotton-broker. This place, like three side-by-side homes along Woolsey Heights 

overlooking Waynesville, was built in a hybrid Dutch Colonial Revival/Shingle~style 

manner, an idiom popularized for seaside vacation-homes in the Northeast. The 

Ray and Woolsey Heights homes(developed by Meththorn Woolsey, from Selma, Alabama) 

enter on large "living-halls" featuring panelled walls and ceilings, built-in 

inglenoo~s, ornate mantels and a large ceremonial stairways. This reflects a 

gr.<;:>wing taste for English and American "Colonial-era" architecture, as seen fully 

developed in the splendid Georgian-Revival house at South Main and Academy in 

Waynesville or the Tudor-influenced houses along Love's Lane. 

The Western Carolina mountains were thought to be healthy environs for 

tuberculosis victims and sanitoriums sprang up here and there. The tubercular 

wife of Duke University Professor W. I. Cranford took refuge in an unusual 

eight-sided "octagon house" in the Clyde-area. This configuration offered the 

most sunlight for her, and although greatly altered, the house remains one of the 

county's most unique. 

By far, the most grandiose of the summer developments was the Lake Junaluska 

area. The Methodist churches of the southeastern states had been searching for 

summer conference grounds and the natural beauty (plus $8,500 put-up as an 
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incentive by Waynesville) of central Haywood County drew them to a spot on 
.• 

Richland Creek.
51 

By 1912 they had constructed a concrete dam, and the lake 

was forming when 4,000 Methodists convened in the multi-sided, open auditorium 

(now Stuart Auditorium) in 1913. 52 Along the northshore many vacation homes 

were built in the 1913-1929 era in addition to public facilities including boat 

53 houses, walkways, a $44,000 water system aqd three large wooden hotels. These 

hotels were short-lived, however, victims of fire, but were replaced by the 

monumental 1921 Lambeth Inn, one of the county's best example of Colonial-Revival 

architecture. Other notable buildings include the Colonial Inn and Shackford Hall, 

also in the Colonial-Revival style, and the later Memorial Chapel, an excellent 

example of a rural English Gothic church. 

The vacation homes at Junaluska, particularly along North Lakeshore, 

Oxford Drive, and.Memory Lane offer .some excellent examples of the Craftsman 

and Bungalow styles. They celebrate the aesthetic promoted by such men as 

Gustav St'ickley, a New Yorker who wanted American homes to express their 

natural construction, use local materials and take full advantage of their 

site. The Junaluska cottages do so wonderfully, hugging the overlooks along 

the lake and using natural rubblestone for terraces and chimneys, wood-shingles 

or log-poles for walls. Best among the rustic homes are numbers 21, 25, 29, 

and 33 Lakeshore; 3, 9, and 21 North Lakeshore; 20 Oxford Circle and 16 Atkins 

Circle, a whimsical bungalow with Oriental, pagoda-like details. 

The Craftsman-style and bungalow homes were not confined to Lake Junaluska 

however. In fact, the bungalow became, in the first decades of the twentieth-

century, perhaps the most prevalent type of house built in Haywood County. (A 

typical bungalow was a one-story house with a broad gable roof which usually 

covered an open or screened porch on the front; the porch posts were often squat 

and tapered.) Coinciding with the industrialization and urbanization of the 

county, the bungalow was ideal for the small-scale housing needed by the new 
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blue-collar ~orking classJas it was throughout America. The majority of these 

bungalows are small, simple houses which make up the neighborhoods surrounding 

Waynesville and in particular, Canton and Hazelwood. Stylistically, the best 

examples are found along Walnut Street in Waynesville, where the homes tend to 

be over-grown bungalows with a Craftsman feeling. 

The bungalow reaches far into the rural areas as well. It became a 

favorite choice for replacing older and deteriorating farmhouses and one like 

that of Waldo Green in Fines Creek was as well-developed as any in the towns. 

Also remaining, is a circa 1925 "ready-built" bungalow at 62 County Road in 

Junaluska ordered from Sears Roebuck and Company when they, along with such 

companies as Wards and Alladan, were mass-producing mail-order houses. There 

are likely other "ready-built" houses throughout the county as well. 

Boom Era: Industry and Commerce 

Following close on the heels of the summer people came a spurt of 

development in industry and commerce. The catalyst for this was the Champion 

Coated Paper Company of Hamilt,on, Ohio who, in 1906, began construction of 

what was to become the county's largest industrial site. 54 

They constructed a pulp mill on the river in the town of Pigeon River 

(now Canton) which lay on the old Western Turnpike from Asheville. In 1870 

there was not much more than a few houses, two grisr mills, a tannery and several 

stores; but by 1900 the railroad had stimulated a population growth of 230. 55 

However in the next ten years the population increased to 1,400; by 1930, 3,000 

people lived in Canton. 56 Champion's pulp mill opened in 1907 and employed 

700 people initially. Attracted by vast woodlands, relatively cheap labor, 

good water and rail transportation, the industry was a huge success. The rural-

farm-to-urban shift of the era was amazing. Whereas in the mid-1800's there was 
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no appreciable urban population in the county, by 1930 only 40% of the people .. 
57 

still lived on working farms. This industrialization of Haywood County 

generally corresponds to the industrialization seen at this time in the rest 

of western North Carolina. 

By the 1920's Champion was the largest paper and pulp mill in the world and 

several of the brick mill buildings and offices from this era remain.
58 

In 

addition, from 1910 to 1920 the entire commercial district of Canton built up 

with the brick downtown structures seen today; in type and style they are typical 

of commercial buildings seen in other Carolina towns of Canton's size and era. 

A housing shortage was alleviated by the construction of leased worker houses by 

Champion including sixty-one identical structures built in 1906 in the area 

known as Fibreville.
59 

Champion also built a community center, grocery stores, 

·a hospital, vocational school and YMCA and invested heavily into forest conservation. 

Canton became the largest North Carolina ci.ty west of Asheville, twice the 

population of Waynesville in 1937, until diversification in other areas of the 

b Ch . d h 60 county y amp1on put an en to growt . 

Although 4/5 of the work -force was employed by Champion, other industries 

61 grew up throughout the county. W. H. Cole developed the flatlands just south 

of Waynesville as a site for his sawmill in the late 1800's and the area became 

the town of Hazelwood in 1905, the most diversified industrial center in the 

county. Junaluska Tannery also started in the late 1800's employed 200 by the 

1930's; Unagusta Furniture established a steam-powered factory in 1901 and 

employed 163; Wellco (shoes) and Dayco were established later in 1941. Some 

of the original factory buildings remain in Hazelwood (notably the Royal and 

Pilkington textile mill) although most have been modern1zed. Port1ons of the 

early Junaluska Tannery and Unagusta buildings remain and the main office at 

Dayco (originally loom-part manufacturers, now engine belts and other rubber 

products) is an excellent example of the streamlined-Moderne style with its 

',. 
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smooth-fac(:d brick walls, rounded corners and glass-block windows. 63 

.• 

This period was also the great lumbering era in the county. Built to 

fuel Champion and others, lumber camps dotted the mountains and by 1929, twenty 

major sawmills were established. 64 Of these, Sunburst in Cecil Township and 

Crestmont in the Mt. Sterling community near Tennessee were the largest, together 

cutting~ million board-feet a day. 65 Two-thirds of the county's timber was 

cut-ov~r by the time the lumber boom ended in the late twenties. 66 

Beginning in 1898, the North Carolina Land and Timber Company built a 

standard-guage lumber railroad from Newport, Tennessee to the Waterville/ 

67 Mt. Sterling area of Haywood. This served a large lumber camp and saw mill, 

but all traces of this once thriving enterprise are now gone. Also disappeared 

is the huge lumber camp at Sunburst including the forty-mile lumber railroad to 

Canton, the workers' houses, a skating rink, dance hall and sawmills. 68 There 

remains however, the payroll office and infirmary buildings, several reworked 

log guesthouses and of course, Lake Logan. The, lake was created by dammLng the 

Pigeon River's West Branch to control the flow of water the Champion's Canton mill. 

Dams for electrical generation began as early as 1905 when the fledgling 

Haywood Electric Power Company built a small plant on the Pigeon at HEPC0.
69 

Washed out in 1924, the company replaced it with a 325 KVA power station at the 

Lake Junaluska Dam (the shell of the powerhouse still remains). 70 But the county's 

largest and most impressive engineering feat has to be the construction of the 

1929 Walters Dam and Hydroelectric Plant by Carolina Power and Light. The 

900' long, 180' high concrete dam built on the Pigeon, in some of the most rugged 

terrain imaginable, created 340-acre Walters Lake. A 6-mile, 12' diameter concrete 

water tunnel was dug from the dam, through the mountains, and provided a hydrohead 

for the electric-plant on the Tennessee border. The National Engineering Landmark -

designated structure contains its three original 1929 108-KW generators, although 
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the company-built village of Waterville which served the hydro-plant's employees, 

has shrunk ~~ a handful of bungalows, the original school house and the social hal1. 71 

Other notable engineering structures include nine early-twentieth-century 

metal truss bridges and the ornate 1891 Bridge 1179 over the Pigeon in Bethel 

(this bridge was manufactured in New York and is the state's oldest truss bridge 

'11 . ) 72 st1 1n use . These bridges replaced earlier wooden bridges and ferries and 

greatly aided transportation throughout the county. 73 

The Automobile Age 

The automobile transformed the face of America and Haywood County as well. 

Although most of the county's changes have occured since World War II, the impact 

of the auto was felt since the first one appeared in Waynesville in 1905. 74 

No paved roads existed in Waynesville in 1904, but by the following decade, 

75 they reached to many parts of the county starting with Waynesville's Main Street. 

Indeed, the appearance of Main Street. today is partly attributable to th'.! 

~utomobile: the relative ease of travel afforded ~o rural farmers by the auto 

allowed them to visit Waynesville, and Main Street became the primary commercial 

district in the county. Some substantial private homes and hotels were cleared 

to make way for the 1910-1930 commercial buildings. 76 The majority of these 

resemble commercial buildings in other North Carolina towns; that is, they were 

primarily two-stories of simple brick construction, with large expanses of display 

window at the street level. Few of Main Street's store buildings have much ornamen-

tation; decoration is usaully confined to corbelled brick rows or recessed brick 

panels at the parapet-cornice level, as on the Gunn's Corner building or the 

Waynesville Hardware block across from the courthouse. Number 232 Main, the old 

Waynesville Library, is unusual however. With its curvilinear parapet-gable, 

river-rock facade and triple-arch entry, it vaguely resembles a Spanish mission. 

0 -.;' 

' ., 



28 

The metal marquee of the Strand moviehouse also remains on Main Street, the last .. 
of several moviehouses on the street operated by J. E. Massie, whose circa 1925 

Dutch-Colonial Revival house served as overnight accommodations for movie stars, 

as Randolph Scott and Roy Rogers, who were on promotional tours. 

The small central business districts of Hazelwood and Clyde also developed 

during this era, utilizing the same straightforward aesthetic designs; most 

interesting are perhaps the 1924 Fincher Block anq the 2-story First Union 

corner building in Clyde. Also built at this time in Clyde is a stretch of small 

suburban-type houses along Broad Street going east toward Canton. These homes 

epitomize the modest suburban architecture of the 1920's with their small-scale 

pseudo-English-Tudor designs, uniform set-backs, driveways and garages. 

The automobile also had its impact on rural areas: general stores adapted 

to servicing cars or were-built with integral gas-pump canopies such as the 

Ferguson Store in Fines Creek or the Caldwell store in Mount Sterling. Gasoline-

powered.tractors replaced animal-power on the farms and the early gas-pump 

surviving on the David Crockett Campbell farm in Maggie symbolizes that switch-over, 

Increased mobility helped sustain the summer activity also. Beginning in 

1926, Jim Long developed the Waynesville Country Club with its large, rustic, 

stone lodge building, although initially the maintenance to the greens was still 

done with the aid of horses. 77 

In 1929 the Depression put a virtual stop to development. Most commerce 

was slowed although Champion weathered well. Farmers were particularly hard-hit, 

and many rural people partially supported themselves by trading ginseng and 

other mountain herbs for groceries and merchandise at local general stores, such 

as the D. Brown and A. Moody stores in Hemphill. 

What was built in the 30's was usually publicly-funded. The Depression had 

the good effect of consolidating and improving the county's public school system 

I' 
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with the construction of many new school buildings. The schools at Fines Creek, 

Cruso, Jonathan Creek, Clyde, Beaverdam, Canton, Waynesville, Maggie and Mt. Sterling 

were built in the 30's, many by locals employed by the Federally-sponsored WPA 

program. These distinctive buildings were usually U-shaped or arranged around a 

central, clerestoried gymnasium, and constructed of brick or randomly-coursed stone. 

The Smoky Mountain National Park, begun in 1929, encompassed all of the 

Cataloochee region of Haywood County and 450 of the residents were re-located.
78 

Another Federal program, the Civilian Conservation Corps, hired locals to develop 

and clear trails in the Cataloochee, although the large CCC camps at Mt. Sterling 

have since disappeared. Despite the Depression, 3/4 of a million people visited 

the Smokies in 1936. 79 Also begun was the Blue Ridge Parkway, an impressive 

engineering feat, part of which borders Haywood on the south and west. Public 

buildings constructed in the 30's include the 1936 National Guard Armory and the 

1935 neo-classic Haywood County Courthouse, both in Waynesville (the new courthouse 

replaced, an equally impressive Second-Empire" style building). 

Gas-engine-powered rolling mills replaced waterwheel mills in the county 

and examples could be found at Clyde, Crabtree, Hemphill, Fines Creek and 

Waynesville but an excellent survivor is the Richland Rolling Mill on the Pigeon 

just north of Junaluska. This 1939 mill was powered by a 1920's Buick which was 

connected via overhead belts to a variety of corn and flour milling machines, all 

of which survive. 

World War II extended the slow-down of building begun by the Depression, 

although just off Main Stre2t on Depot in Waynesville is the unusual 1942 

Sherrill's Studio building, a nice example of the International style with its 

smooth, plain wall surfaces, metal casement windows wrapping around the corners, 

a central porthole-window, and glass-block wall sections flanking the entry. 

The.post-war years saw a resurgance in construction and the bulk of the county's 

'' " • 
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built enviljpment probably dates from 1950 on. Renewed industrial, commercial 
.• 

and tourist activity contributed to the process. By 1954, Haywood County had 

the state's largest rubber and paper factories, was the leading producer of 

. 80 beef-cattle and second in burley-tobacco product~on. There was a continuing 

rural-to-urban shift and today 83% of the population lives in the four (out of 

thirteen) central townships. 81 The landsc_ape in· these areas is characterized 

by unzoned residential developments with many owner-built homes. There is a 

lively mix of suburban and vacation houses, usually maintaining small-acre lots 

which encroach on many farms. This hybrid suburban/rural development ("ruburbs") 

is dependent on the auto, as most of the homeowners commute. 

Totally auto-oriented is the main route through Maggie Valley, a strip 

of development given over to the tourists emptying out of the Smoky Mountain 

Park's southern exits. Behind this strip are.numerous planned real-estate or 

condominium developments, a phenomena also seen on some of the most remote 

mountainsides of the county. 

The ubiquitous American commercial strip has also developed along the main 

highways leading into Waynesville, Canton and Hazelwood. Waynesville's Russ Avenue 

is the epitome of the automobile environment with its drive-in restaurants and 

banks, shopping centers, and large parking lots fronting all establishments. The 

universal symbols seen on the signs of McDonald's, Wendy's or Bi-Lo Grocery 

signal the full 180° turn Haywood County has come since its first beginnings; 

whereas the log-houses characterize a society relatively isolated and embedded 

in specific folk traditions, Russ Avenue symbolizes a generic, nation~wide 

architecture and increasingly homogeneous society. For this reason, it is all 

the more important to recognize and protect the county's architectural resources. 

Fortunately, an appreciation and demand for the early log-structures seems 

to have taken hold. In addition, several adaptive-use projects involving in-town 

·':-,. 
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houses in Waynesville and efforts by merchants in Canton's downtown will help 
.. 

assure the continued useful life of important buildings. It is hoped that this 

essay on the county's architecture will further an appreciation and careful 

management of the historic built environment. 
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of History:.,..T9'fb";--·Excellent reference for the history and 
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Powers, Elizabeth, interview with. April 1973· Transcript at 
Haywood Co. Library (917.56P). History of Cataloochee and 

· Jonathan • s Creek areas. 

Woody, Jonathon and Dr. Robert, interview with. Feb and March 1973· 
Transcript at Haywood Co. Library (917.)6W). Social history 
of Ca taloochee area. 

NEWSPAPER COLLECTIONS ---==:;;;. 

Wal!l~ille Moun}~,!neer. Bound copies at Haywood Co. J..,ibrary; 
Dec. Jl, 19Zi'2-June '68; microfilms Jan. 1969-Dec. JO, 1974 • 


